

Administration Office 1717 N. Indian Hill Blvd., Suite B Claremont, CA 91711

# REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR

### ELECTRONIC HEALTH RECORDS SOFTWARE PLATFORM

August 19, 2020

### **CONTACT**

Jessica Wong, Interim CIO Ph: (323)747-8340

E-mail: it\_consulting@tricitymhs.org

### PROPOSAL PACKET

RFP Cover Page
Proposer's Company Information, References and Subcontractors
Transmittal Letter
Owner/Responsible Project Manager and Core Team
Proposer's Company Work Process Information
RFP Exceptions
Proposer Price Proposal
On or before September 30, 2020, 5PM PST, completed Proposal Packet scanned and
e-mailed to: JPA Administrator Clerk at molmos@tricitymhs.org
OR
Sealed and delivered via mail overnight or in person to:

Tri-City Mental Health Authority
1717 N. Indian Hill Blvd, Suite B
Claremont, CA 91711
Attn: JPA Administrator/Clerk
"SEALED PROPOSAL FOR EHR SOFTWARE PLATFORM"

- The full RFP may be downloaded from TCMHA's website at www.tricitymhs.org
- All proposals must be signed by a duly authorized representative of the agency.
- All unsigned or late proposals will be rejected.
- Faxed proposals are not accepted.
- Proposals will be verified for compliance with RFP specifications and also competitively evaluated.
- A recommendation to award contract tentatively will be presented to the Governing Board at its December 16, 2020 meeting.
- TCMHA reserves the right to make no award of contract.
- We appreciate your interest in Tri-City Mental Health Authority and look forward to your response.

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	AGENCY PROFILE	1
	A. Tri-City Mental Health Authority	1
	B. The Three Cities: Pomona, Claremont, and La Verne	1
III.	SCOPE OF SERVICE	2
IV.	RFP AND TIMELINE	2
- • •	A. RPF Schedule	
	B. Explanation of Timeline	2
V.	PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS	3
	A. TCMHA Contact During Formal Proposal Process	
	B. Time and Manner of Submission	3
	C. Proposal Format	4
VI.	AWARD AND AGREEMENT EXECUTION	5
	A. Proposal Opening	
	B. Proposal Evaluation	5
	C. Proposal Rejection	
	D. Subcontracting	6
	E. Withdrawal or Modification of Proposals	6
	F. Agreement Period	6
	G. Award of Contract	6
	H. Execution of Agreement	6
	I. Indemnity and Insurance Requirements	6
	J. Invoicing and Payment Process	9
	K. Agreement Extension	9
	L. Agreement Price Adjustment Parameters	9
	M. Transition Services	9
VII.	GENERA PROVISIONS	10
	A. Independent Contractor	
	B. Public Records – Notice Related to Proprietary/Confidential Data	10
	C. Conflict of Interest	11
	D. Nondiscrimination	
	E. Debarred/Suspended Contractors	
	F. Business Associate Agreement	
	G. Records and Audits	
	H. Governing Law and Regulations	12
VIII.	DEFINITIONS	12
IX.	ATTACHMENTS	13
	Scope of Services	Attachment A
	RFP Cover Page	Attachment B
	Proposer's Company Information, References and Subcontractors	
	Proposer's Company Work Process Information	Attachment D
	RFP Exceptions	Attachment E
	Proposer Price Proposal	
	Contractor's Attestation	Attachment G
	Business Associate Agreement	
ם ב	on Floring in Locate Books Cofficient Distance	Page   i

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Tri-City Mental Health Authority (TCMHA) is seeking an EHR Contractor to provide a comprehensive client data and electronic record software application to replace the current Welligent platform. All proposers shall meet the provisions, requirements and specifications listed in this Request for Proposal Document, No. 2020-0802 and must be received by TCMHA by **5:00 PM PST on September 30, 2020** at 1717 N. Indian Hill Boulevard, Suite B, Claremont, CA 91711, or scanned and emailed to molmos@tricitymhs.org.

#### II. AGENCY PROFILE

### A. Tri-City Mental Health Authority ("TCMHA")

TCMHA was established through a Joint Powers Authority Agreement between the Cities of Pomona, Claremont and La Verne pursuant to the provisions of the Joint Exercise of Powers Act of the State of California, to deliver mental health services to the residents of the three Cities. Pursuant to the Joint Powers Authority Agreement, TCMHA is a public agency governed by a Governing Board (Legislative Body) composed of seven members; four members are a council member of his/her respective City, and three members of the Board are community members appointed by the three Cities. To carry out the Agency operations, the Governing Board develops and establishes resolutions and policies, and appoints an Executive Director to conduct the Agency's day-to-day operations.

TCMHA has a stated commitment to achieving excellence and efficiency as a public Agency serving the diverse communities of Pomona, Claremont, and La Verne through its five facilities, over 200 employees, and outpatient services. TCMHA creates an integrated system of care to ensure access and to enhance the mental and emotional health of its clients. Available services include psychotherapy, clinical case management, medication support, peer-to-peer support, psychoeducation, linkage and referral, vocational training and support, socialization activities, and community outreach.

### B. The Three Cities: Pomona, Claremont, and La Verne

The City of Pomona was incorporated as a City in 1888 and became a charter City in 1911. Today, Pomona is the seventh largest city in Los Angeles County, with a population of 154,345, encompasses a land area of 22.95 sq. miles, and is located approximately 27 miles east of downtown Los Angeles in the Pomona Valley between the Inland Empire and the San Gabriel Valley. Pomona is bordered by the cities of La Verne and Claremont on the north; the Los Angeles/San Bernardino county line forms most of the city's southern and eastern boundaries. Pomona boasts a progressive economy, business opportunity, and a strong workforce. Pomona is the site of Pomona Valley Hospital Medical Center and of the Fairplex, which hosts the L.A. County Fair and the NHRA Auto Club Raceway (formerly known as Pomona Raceway). Colleges and universities located in Pomona are California State Polytechnic University (Cal Poly Pomona), Western University of Health Sciences (formerly known as College of Osteopathic Medicine of the Pacific) and DeVry University has a campus in Pomona.

The City of Claremont was founded in 1887 and incorporated in 1907; it is located approximately 30 miles east of Los Angeles, consisting of 35,000 residents and an area of 14.14 square miles. The City's development has always been closely associated with the academically acclaimed Claremont Colleges consisting of five undergraduate and two graduate higher education institutions. The community takes pride in its rich cultural, educational and architectural heritage, as well as its small-town atmosphere.

The City of La Verne was founded in 1887 and incorporated in 1906; it is situated approximately 35 miles east of Los Angeles nestled in the foothills of the San Gabriel - Pomona Valleys, consisting of a population of over 33,000 and a land area of 8.6 square miles. La Verne is a well-balanced residential community which includes a good mix of commercial and industrial uses as well as the University of La Verne, an airport and fine public and private schools.

#### III. SCOPE OF SERVICE

The scope of this project should include the Electronic Health Records software platform license, training, implementation/migration, and support. Please see 'Attachment A' for detailed information regarding the functional specifications required.

#### IV. RFP AND TIMELINE

#### A. RFP Schedule

- Request for Proposal (RFP) Issued: August 19, 2020
- Written Ouestions Deadline: **September 7, 2020**
- Response to Written Questions/RFP Addendum Posted: September 14, 2020
- Proposals Deadline: September 30, 2020, 5:00 PM PST
- Demos: will begin to schedule after September 30, 2020, date and time TBD
- Anticipated Award of Contract: **December 16, 2020**
- Anticipated Commencement of work: **December 17, 2020**

### **B.** Explanation of Timeline

- 1. <u>RFP Issued.</u> The Request for Proposal Documents may be obtained from TCMHA's website at <u>www.tricitymhs.org</u>. The TCMHA will not be responsible for the completeness or accuracy of Request for Proposal Documents retrieved from any other source than directly from TCMHA.
- 2. Written Questions Deadline. Submit all written questions by the deadline to RFP Contact Person. Questions submitted in any other manner or format are not acceptable. All questions must be received via e-mail by 5:00 PM PST September 7, 2020 (see RFP Schedule). Questions will be responded to in writing. Written summaries of all questions and answers will be published on TCMHA's website. Anonymity of the source of specific written questions will be maintained in the written responses. A clarification addendum will be issued, if necessary.

- 3. Response to Written Questions/RFP Addendum Posted. Answers to all questions received by the deadline and any material change to the RFP, will be listed on an addendum to the RFP and posted at <a href="www.tricitymhs.org">www.tricitymhs.org</a> by September 14, 2020. Additional written questions must be received by the RFP Contact Person no later than two (2) days after the addendum is posted. The Agency reserves the right to post additional addenda until the RFP closing date and time. Any written addendum issued during the Proposal time shall become a part of the Request for Proposal Document and shall be signed and attached to the Proposal and made a part of the Proposal submitted. It is the Proposer's responsibility to indicate acknowledgement, sign, and return addendums with their response. TCMHA reserves the right to reject any responses deemed to be non-responsive.
- **4.** <u>Proposal Deadline</u>. Proposals must be received no later than the deadline specified in RFP and Proposal Timeline.
- **5.** <u>Proposal Evaluation Period</u>. An Evaluation Committee will review and evaluate the proposals and make a recommendation as to which proposals to move forward.
  - **6.** <u>Demos.</u> TCMHA will request demos from the top three Proposer(s).
- 7. Anticipated Award of Contract. A formal written notice of intent to award letter will be sent to the selected Proposer; and it will include the anticipated date of the Governing Board meeting when the item will be presented for approval.

### V. PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS

#### A. TCMHA Contact During Formal Proposal Process

During the formal proposal process, TCMHA contact shall be Jessica Wong, Interim Chief Information Officer, (323) 747-8340, email: <u>it consulting@tricitymhs.org</u>.

#### **B.** Time and Manner of Submission

A fully executed Proposal shall be scanned and emailed to <a href="molmos@tricitymhs.org">molmos@tricitymhs.org</a> no later than 5:00 p.m., Pacific Time, on September 30, 2020.

Proposals in hard-copy form shall be submitted to and received by TCMHA Mental Health Authority's Administration Office no later than the Closing Time 5:00 p.m., Pacific Time, on **September 30, 2020**. Received proposals will be time stamped. Proposals must be in a sealed envelope, and be marked and addressed as follows:

U.S. Mail, Overnight, or Hand Delivery:

Tri-City Mental Health Authority
1717 N. Indian Hill Blvd, Suite B
Claremont, CA 91711
Attn: JPA Administrator/Clerk
"SEALED PROPOSAL FOR EHR SOFTWARE PLATFORM"

Proposals may be delivered between the hours of 8:00 AM and 5:00 PM (Pacific), Monday through Friday, excluding TCMHA holidays. Proposals delivered after the Closing Time will not be accepted.

### C. Proposal Format

It is TCMHA's request that the proposals be brief and succinct. Information listed 1-8 below, including Appendices B-F, to this proposal document are required to be included in the submitted proposal. If not included, the submitted proposal will be considered incomplete; and thus, non-responsive. The proposal shall be submitted in the following format:

- 1. RFP Cover Page (Attachment B)
- 2. <u>Proposer's Company Information, References and Subcontractors</u> (*Attachment C*)
- 3. <u>Transmittal Letter</u>. The letter signed by the authorized Proposer representative should provide an executive summary that briefly states the Proposer's interest in the services, the understanding of the work to be done, the commitment to perform the work, and irrevocable offer for 90 days from the closing date. The letter and executive summary shall be limited to no more than two (2) pages.
- **4.** Owner/Responsible Project Manager and Core Team. List the owner or person in charge, and a concise statement of qualifications and experience applicable to each type of service that is to be provided. List the key staff and sub-contractors, if any, along with a brief statement of qualifications for individual members which will be assigned to provide the requested services in this RFP.
- **5.** Proposer's Company Work Process Information (*Attachment D*). List former clients for whom similar or comparable services have been performed. Include the name, mailing address, mailing address, and telephone number of the appropriate contact person.
- **6.** <u>RFP Exceptions</u> (*Attachment E*). Provide properly completed Exception(s) To Specifications. If Proposer has no exceptions, then Proposer must check the box, where indicated.
- 7. Proposer Price Proposal (Attachment F). The services shall include a performance and cost schedule for all services necessary to complete this project. The proposal should include a separate all-inclusive cost for each of the three years of the contract. The proposal should specify the major components, the cost breakdown by major component or phase, and the expected time of completion for each component based on the scope of services outlined in the proposal. The proposal should include, a total proposed, "not to exceed" costs of the services, including a fee and rate schedule describing all charges and hourly rates for services. Those services listed in hourly rates, shall be calculated per the Department of Industrial Relations Prevailing Wage Labor Code, if applicable. The Proposer shall state specifically what is being furnished, such as materials, labor, tools, and other equipment necessary to the complete the Scope of Services or expected number of hours with hourly rate.

Cost will not be the deciding factor in making the selection. The overall total cost to TCMHA will be considered and the degree of the importance of cost will increase with the degree of equality of the proposals in relation to the other factors on which selection is to be based.

**8.** Copy of Business License and/or Certifications. A copy of the Business License will be required after the award of contract. Contractor declares that Contractor has complied with all federal, state, and local business permits and licensing requirements necessary to conduct business.

#### VI. AWARD AND AGREEMENT EXECUTION

### A. Proposal Opening

Due to COVID-19, there will be no public opening of submittal proposals. After the evaluation process is concluded and a proposed intent to award determination is made, a written notification of the proposed award will be provided to all proposers.

### **B.** Proposal Evaluation

The proposal should give clear, concise information in sufficient detail to allow an evaluation. The agency should provide an affirmative statement that it is independent of TCMHA and that the services performed are in the capacity of independent contractors and not as an officer, agent, or employee of TCMHA.

The Proposals will be reviewed by a selection committee and evaluated based on the following criteria:

- 1. Proposer's qualifications, description and experience
- 2. Understanding and ability to perform the Scope of Work
- 3. References and experience with similar projects
- 4. Cost Proposal

### C. Proposal Rejection

TCMHA reserves the right to reject any and all proposals, either in part or in its entirety; or to negotiate specific terms, conditions, compensation, and provisions on any agreements that may arise from this solicitation; to waive any informalities or irregularities in the proposals; to request and obtain, from one or more of the agencies submitting proposals, supplementary information as may be necessary for TCMHA staff to analyze the proposals; and to accept the proposal that appear to be in the best interest of TCMHA. In determining and evaluating the proposals, costs will not necessarily be controlling; the experience of those who will be providing services under the agreement, quality, equality, efficiency, utility, suitability of the services offered, and the reputation of applicants will be considered, along with other relevant factors.

#### D. Subcontracting

If subcontracting is contemplated, this should be discussed in your proposal. No additional subcontracting will be allowed without the express prior written consent of the TCMHA.

### E. Withdrawal or Modification of Proposals

Proposals may be modified or withdrawn only by a written request received by TCMHA prior to the Request for Proposal due date (Closing Date).

### F. Agreement Period

The initial agreement period shall be for three (3) years beginning on Commencement date. TCMHA can at its choice, exercise offers for two additional annual extensions for a total possible agreement period of five (5) years, subject to the annual review and recommendation of the Executive Director, the satisfactory negotiation of terms (including a price acceptable to both TCMHA and the selected agency), the concurrence of the Governing Board, and the annual availability of a budget appropriation. No price increases shall be accepted during the initial agreement period.

#### G. Award of a Contract

A contract may be awarded to the successful Proposer for the Project by TCMHA Governing Board, as applicable, based upon the criteria reflected in this RFP. TCMHA reserves the right to execute, or not execute, an Agreement with the successful Proposer when it is determined to be in TCMHA's best interests. This RFP does not commit TCMHA to award a contract; and no Proposal or Agreement shall be considered binding upon TCMHA until the execution of the Agreement by TCMHA and all conditions of the Agreement and/or RFP have been met.

#### H. Execution of Agreement

By submitting a Response, the Proposers agree to be bound to and execute an Independent Contractor Agreement for the services described in this RFP. None of the foregoing shall preclude TCMHA, at its option, from seeking to negotiate changes to the Contract prior to its execution. TCMHA may cancel all or any portion of the Agreement for any reason with 30 days written notice to Contractor. The Agreement shall be signed prior to the commencement of any work by the successful Proposer and returned, together, with the required insurance forms within fourteen (14) calendar days after the Proposer has received written notice of award. Failure to do so shall be just cause for the annulment of the award at the sole election of TCMHA.

### I. Indemnity and Insurance Requirements

The awarded Proposer(s) shall comply with the insurance and indemnification requirements set forth below. If selected, Proposer shall procure and maintain for the duration of the agreement insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, his agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors.

**1.** <u>Minimum Limits of Insurance</u>. During the entire agreement time with TCMHA, the awarded Proposer shall maintain limits no less than:

INSURANCE CATEGORY	MINIMUM LIMITS
Workers' Compensation Insurance	California Statutory Minimum
Employer's Liability Insurance	\$1,000,000 per accident; \$1,000,000 per employee for
	bodily injury or disease
Commercial General Liability	\$1,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence
Insurance	coverage for bodily and personal injury and property
	damage, and \$2,000,000 general aggregate \$1,000,000
	per occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury, and
	property damage
Business Vehicle and Automobile	\$1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property
Liability Insurance	damage
Cyber Liability Insurance	\$1,000,000 for each occurrence or event; with an annual
	aggregate of \$1,000,000 as further described below.
Errors and omissions Insurance	\$1,000,000 per claim or occurrence and in the Aggregate,
(Professional Liability)	as further described below.

- a. Cyber Liability Insurance. With limits not less than \$1,000,000 for each occurrence or event with an annual aggregate of \$1,000,000 covering claims including but not limited to invasion of privacy violations, breach of data, disruption of networks, information theft, damage to or destruction of electronic information, release of private information, alteration of electronic information, introduction or intrusion of a virus, malware, notification, credit monitoring, breach response costs, regulatory fines and penalties, extortion and network security, and also infringement of intellectual property, including but not limited to infringement of copyright, trademark, trade dress, up to the policy limits. As an additional requirement, the policy should specifically contain 1st party and 3rd party protections:
  - 1st Party covers notifying the Contractor's clients, credit monitoring, public relations, loss of business income or interruption, amounts to pay a cyber extortionist of the Contractor.
  - 3rd Party would cover failing to anticipate or prevent the transfer of a virus to a 3rd party, 3rd party notification, misuse, disclosure or theft of confidential info, and failure to secure confidential info.
- b. <u>Professional Liability (Errors and Omission) Insurance</u>. With limits not less than \$1,000,000 per claim or occurrence and in the Aggregate. Such insurance coverage's definition of professional services must extend to all professional services under this contract, and all additional terms, conditions and limitation shall provide coverage sufficiently broad to respond to the duties and obligations as is undertaken by Proposer in this Contract. Such insurance coverage shall include, but not be limited to, coverage for mistakes in opinions, judgments or actions in the course and scope of providing professional services, claims involving infringement of intellectual property, including but not limited to infringement of copyright, trademark, trade dress. The policy shall protect TCMHA for breach response costs as well as regulatory fines and penalties as well as credit monitoring expenses with limits sufficient to respond to these obligations.

- **2.** Other Insurance Provisions The general liability and automobile liability policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions:
- a. Tri-City Mental Health Authority, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers are to be covered as insureds with respect to liability arising out of work or operations performed by or on behalf of the Contractor including materials, parts or equipment furnished in connection with such work or operations. General liability coverage can be provided in the form of an endorsement to the Contractor's insurance (at least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85), as a separate Owner's and Contractor's Protective Liability Policy, or on TCMHA's own form.
- **b.** For any claims related to this project, the Contractor's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respects TCMHA, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by TCMHA, its officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of the Contractor's insurance and shall not contribute with it.
- **c.** Each insurance policy required by this clause shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall not be canceled by either party, except after thirty (30) days' prior written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, has been given to TCMHA.
- **3.** Acceptability of Insurers. Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best's rating of no less than A-:VII or otherwise acceptable to TCMHA.
- 4. <u>Verification of Coverage</u>. Contractor shall furnish the TCMHA with original certificates and amendatory endorsements effecting coverage required by this clause. The endorsements should be on forms provided by TCMHA or on other than TCMHA's forms, provided those endorsements or policies conform to the requirements. All certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by TCMHA before work commences. However, failure to obtain the required documents prior to the work beginning shall not waive the consultant's obligation to provide them. TCMHA reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, including endorsements effecting the coverage required by these specifications at any time.
- **5.** <u>Subcontractors</u>. Contractor shall require and verify all subcontractors maintain insurance subject to all of the requirements stated herein.
- 6. <u>Indemnification</u>. Contractor expressly agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless TCMHA and its Directors, officers, agents, volunteers and employees from and against any and all loss, expenses, claims, suits, damages, attorney's fees, and other costs, including all costs of defense, which any of them arising out of or resulting from Contractor's, its associates, subcontractors, or other agents' negligent acts, or refusal of Contractor to faithfully perform the work and all of the Contractor's obligations or errors or omissions or willful misconduct in the operation and/or performance under this Agreement. Contractor shall pay and satisfy any judgment, award or decree that may be rendered against TCMHA or its directors, officers, employees, or authorized volunteers, in any such suit, action, or other legal proceeding. The obligations of the contractor shall not extend to the liability of TCMHA, its directors, employees, arising out of or resulting from or in connection with the preparation or approval of maps, drawings, opinions, reports, surveys, designs or specifications, providing that the foregoing was the sole and exclusive cause of the loss, damage or injury.

### J. Invoicing and Payment Process

The Contractor will bill on a monthly basis based on work performed. Invoices not including the proper purchase order or any variations may cause a delay in payment. Payment will be made after invoices are received, approved by the staff overseeing the work and the department has processed the payment. Payments will normally be made at the end of thirty (30) days unless other terms are specifically offered by the Contractor and accepted by TCMHA. TCMHA does not pay in-advance or for interest or fees for late payments.

### K. Agreement Extension

At the sole discretion of TCMHA, TCMHA may, upon two months prior notice to the Contractor, extend the Agreement for two successive 12-month periods. Such extensions shall be under the same terms and conditions or as negotiated and revised in writing.

At such time as TCMHA chooses to exercise the option to extend the Agreement, the Contractor will be notified and requested to submit a written proposal detailing the next 12-months offered price for the agreement services. If the option for any 12-month period extension is not exercised, the agreement shall terminate at the end of the current period term. Any extensions shall be subject to agreement between TCMHA and the Contractor.

### L. Agreement Price Adjustment Parameters

To be eligible for an Agreement Extension, the price shall either remain the same as proposed or, upon mutual agreement, can be adjusted by the 12-Month percentage change in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) for All Urban Consumers in the San Francisco, Oakland, San Jose, California index published by the Department of Labor for the most current yearly comparison three months prior to the Agreement expiration dates. For example, if the Agreement expires in February the CPI comparison would be between the November CPI for that year and the preceding year. Despite any changes in the CPI for any given twelve-month adjustment period, upward adjustment of Agreement amount shall not exceed 5 percent during any single twelve-month adjustment period.

#### M. Transition Services

Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason, EHR Contrctor shall provide the services described below (the "Transition Services") for up to (2) months if requested by TCMHA (the "Transition Period"). Transition Services shall consist of the following to the extent requested in writing by TCMHA:

- 1. Continuing to provide the Services required under this Agreement as of the date of termination (including applicable service levels and disaster recovery services), or such subset of such Services as TCMHA may direct; and
- 2. Providing all reasonable cooperation to TCMHA, its contractors and replacement EHR Contractor(s) in order for TCMHA to transition its data to a successor system, including: (i) working in good faith to provide all data in a standardized format and structure that is then generally accepted in the health IT industry or is otherwise acceptable to the TCMHA; or

- (ii) assisting with the conversion of such data for use in a new EHR. The parties shall negotiate reasonably and in good faith to agree on details of the Transition Services including the deadline for completion of data conversion services.
- 3. <u>Transition Fees</u>. Fees shall not exceed the then current hourly rates that would be charged by EHR Contractor for similar services provided under the Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that the Agreement is terminated by the TCMHA on the basis of the Contractor's breach of this Agreement, including a breach of the Contractor's warranty that the EHR system is certified under the Current Requirements, then the Contractor shall provide the Transition Services free of any fee, charge or set off.
- 4. <u>Accessing Previous EHR Software</u>. TCMHA may retain a secure archival copy of the most recently used software, all previous versions, and all documentation for use in responding to e-discovery requests for Documentation in its "native format."

TCMHA may use the archived software in litigation, arbitration, or government investigations regarding reimbursement malpractice, or other matters in which the use of such items would help establish what information was known to TCMHA and its EHR users at the time in question and how it appeared.

#### VII. GENERAL PROVISIONS

### A. Independent Contractor

In performance of the work, duties and obligations assumed by the Proposer, it is mutually understood and agreed that the Proposer, including any and all of the Proposer's officers, agents and employees, will at all times be acting and performing in an independent capacity and not as an officer, agent, servant, employee, joint venture, partner or associate of TCMHA.

### B. Public Records - Notice Related to Proprietary/Confidential Data

Proposer understands that the public shall have access, at all reasonable times, to all documents and information, subject to the Public Records Act, and agrees to allow access by TCMHA and the public to all documents subject to disclosure under applicable law. Proposer's failure or refusal to comply with the provision of this section shall result in the immediate cancellation of the Agreement (if awarded). Proposers are advised that the California Public Records Act (the "Act", Government Code §§6250 et seq.) provides that any person may inspect or be provided a copy of any identifiable public record or document that is not exempted from disclosure by the express provisions of the Act. Each Proposer shall clearly identify any information within its submission that it intends to ask TCMHA to withhold as exempt under the Act. Any information contained in a Proposer's submission which the Proposer believes qualifies for exemption from public disclosure as "proprietary" or "confidential" must be identified as such at the time of first submission of the Proposer's response to this RFP. Failure to identify information contained in a Proposer's submission to this RFP as "proprietary" or "confidential" shall constitute a waiver of Proposer's right to object to the release of such information upon request under the Act. TCMHA favors full and open disclosure of all such records. TCMHA will not expend public funds defending claims for access to, inspection of, or to be provided copies of any such records.

Note that wholesale use of headers/footers bearing designations such as "confidential", "proprietary", or "trade secret" on all or nearly all of a proposal is not acceptable, and may be deemed by TCMHA as a waiver of any exemption claim. Any Proposal that includes a blanket statement or limitation, which would prohibit or limit public inspection may be considered non-responsive and may be rejected. Pricing information is generally not considered proprietary information. The identification of exempt information must be specific. TCMHA assumes no responsibility for disclosure or use of unmarked data for any purposes.

#### C. Conflict Of Interest

Proposers, by responding to this RFP, certify that to the best of their knowledge or belief, no elected/appointed official or employee of the TCMHA is financially interested, directly or indirectly, in the purchase of goods/services specified in this RFP. Furthermore, Proposer represents and warrants to TCMHA that it has not employed or retained any person or company employed by the TCMHA to solicit or secure the award of the Agreement and that it has not offered to pay, paid, or agreed to pay any person any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, or gift of any kind contingent upon or in connection with, the award of the Agreement.

#### D. Nondiscrimination

Proposer agrees that it shall not discriminate as to race, sex, color, age, religion, national origin, marital status, sexual identity or disability in connection with its performance under this RFP. Furthermore, Proposer agrees that no otherwise qualified individual shall solely by reason of the aforementioned be excluded from the participation in, be denied benefits of, or be subjected to, discrimination under any program or activity.

### E. Debarred/Suspended Contractors

The awarded Proposer (Contractor) shall certify that no staff member, officer, director, partner, principal, or owner, or sub-contractor is excluded from any Federal health care program, or federally funded contract (*Attachment G*).

#### F. Business Associate Agreement

To the extent necessary, TCMHA will furnish Protected Health Information (PHI) to awarded Proposer/Contractor (Business Associate) in accordance with all applicable legal requirements to allow Contractor to provide a comprehensive client data and electronic record software application on TCMHA's behalf. Contractor is required to appropriately safeguard the PHI disclosed to it. In accordance with TCMHA's policies and procedures, Contractor will sign a *Business Associate Agreement (Attachment H)*, accepting liability for any breach of ePHI or PHI.

#### G. Records And Audits

The awarded Proposer (Contractor) shall maintain accounts and records, including all working papers, personnel, property, and financial records, adequate to identify and account for all costs pertaining to the Contract and such other records as may be deemed necessary by TCMHA to assure proper accounting for all project funds, both Federal and non-Federal shares.

These records must be made available for audit purposes to TCMHA or any authorized representative, and must be retained, at the Contractor's expense, for a minimum of seven (7) years, unless the firm is notified in writing by TCMHA of the need to extend the retention period.

### H. Governing Law and Regulations

The services will be performed in, construed by and interpreted according to the laws of the State of California. Proposer will comply with all federal, state, and local laws, standards, regulations, licenses, and permits. No proposal received and read may be withdrawn for a period of ninety (90) calendar days after the date fixed for opening proposals. TCMHA intends to award the Agreement within sixty (60) calendar days of receiving the proposals. TCMHA reserves the right to retain all proposals submitted and to use any ideas in a proposal regardless of whether that proposal is selected. Submission of a proposal indicates acceptance by the Proposer of the conditions contained in this request for proposals, unless clearly and specifically noted in the proposal submitted and confirmed in the agreement between TCMHA and the agency selected. There is no expressed or implied obligation for TCMHA to reimburse responding Proposers for any expenses incurred in preparing proposals in response to this request or for developing and carrying out interview presentations. Any proposal preparation and/or travel cost in regards to this proposal is the sole responsibility of the Proposer. All proposal documents, prints and any detailed drawings shall be the property of TCMHA once submitted. TCMHA is a Joint Powers Authority formed and existing under the laws of the State of California. The successful Proposer will be required to satisfy all current legal requirements applicable to this work including Labor Code section 1061(b)(1), if applicable.

The Proposer, by submitting a response to this RFP, waives all right to protest or seek any legal remedies whatsoever regarding an aspect of this RFP. Although, it is TCMHA's intent to choose only a small number of the most qualified agency to interview with TCMHA, TCMHA reserves the right to choose any number of qualified finalists.

#### VIII. DEFINITIONS

- **A.** Tri-City Mental Health Services Authority: Tri-City Mental Health Authority (TCMHA) or its authorized representative.
- **B.** Request for Proposal Documents: The document soliciting invitation for proposal and includes basic proposal information and contractual documents.
- **C. Proposer:** a person, corporation, partnership, or other entity who submits a proposal.
- **D. Proposal Packet:** All requested and required Request for Proposal Documents and forms submitted by the Proposer to TCMHA.
  - **E. Closing Time:** The time and date deadline for submission of Proposal.
- **F. Independent Contractor:** Upon TCMHA's award of the agreement a successful Proposer will become known as "Independent Contractor" or "EHR Contractor".

### IX. ATTACHMENTS

Attachment A: Scope of Services

Attachment B: RFP Cover Page

<u>Attachment C</u>: Proposer's Company Information, References and Subcontractors

Attachment D: Proposer's Company Work Process Information

Attachment E: RFP Exceptions

Attachment F: Proposer Price Proposal

Attachment G: Contractor's Attestation

Attachment H: Business Associate Agreement

#### **ATTACHMENT A**

#### SCOPE OF SERVICES

Tri-City Mental Health Authority (TCMHA) has identified a number of software functional requirements that apply to its business. The functional requirements are grouped into 12 categories:

- A. Overall Client Information & Electronic Record Functionality
- B. Psychiatry & Nursing Services Functionality
- C. Substance Abuse & Dependence Functionality
- D. Outpatient Functionality
- E. Other Clinical Functionality
- F. Additional Compliance, Quality Assurance, & Medical Record Functionality
- G. Additional Referral & Admission Functionality
- H. Billing & Accounts Receivable Functionality
- I. Management & Performance Functionality Reporting
- J. Other Core System Functionality

Contractor responses to the functional specifications will have two components:

- 1. <u>Software Functionality Summary Sheet</u> Proposers will use the Summary Sheets at the end of this section to code their responses as to whether or not the functionality is available in their application. There are separate Summary Sheets for each of the broad areas of functionality. Additionally, Proposers can use the Comments column of the Summary Sheet to indicate that they have a comment about the specification in the Functional Specifications Comments section.
- 2. <u>Functional Specifications Comments</u> This is the section where Proposers indicate comments, if any, regarding the specifications. Comments should be coded by specification number and name.

#### A. Overall Client Information & Electronic Record Functionality

- 1. Standard & Program Specific Client Demographic Data. The software supports recording all client's demographic data required for standard third- party billing functions. Additionally, it supports the ability for the organization to track demographic data specific to individual programs or services, and these data requirements are easily changeable over time.
- 2. Alias & Previous Name Support. The system should support tracking previous names and aliases for client, children, and family members throughout the system, including within the billing module.
- **3. Consumer Photo.** The software supports the import and viewing of consumer photos for identification purposes.
- 4. Required Form Generation & Tickler System. The software should support generation of required forms for responsible party review and signature (e.g., financial status updates, consumer rights information, authorizations for treatment, etc.) as well as remind staff of upcoming and overdue due dates for completion.

- 5. Admission, Transfers, & Discharge Information. The software allows users to record program admission and discharge information for each client, overall and by service line or program.
- **6. Referral Tracking.** The software supports tracking referral sources [INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL] and the related workflow for managing admissions to the organization's programs.
- 7. **Referral & Admission Notes.** The system should have notes capabilities to support staff in tracking important information about each admission and case. These might include notes about the utilization review process, issues for billing staff to address, or other requirements.
- **8. Support for Automatic Referral Letter & Fax Generation.** The system should support the creating and faxing of letter to referral sources.
- 9. **Discharge Planning & Referral Tracking.** The software supports detailed discharge planning, including community providers referred to and their areas of expertise.
- 10. Family & Relationship Tracking. The software supports recording family members and other relationships for all clients in care.
- 11. DSM & ICD Diagnoses. The software allows users to record a DSM diagnosis (using the most up-to-date version of the DSM) and translate the diagnosis to ICD codes (using the most up-to-date version of the ICD) as required by third-party payers. This should include support for all ICD diagnoses for medical conditions. The diagnosis data should be date-sensitive.
- 12. Master Individual Service Plans. The software allows users to record all individual service plan (ISP), including identified symptoms/behaviors, problems, and goals for treatment. Elements of the service plan are easily viewable form the progress note view, as well as the ability to populate elements into the progress note. The system track start and end dates for service plan objectives, as well as, the ability to alert for upcoming due and overdue service plans.
- 13. Care Provider Tracking. The software allows users to record all assigned care providers (e.g., primary clinician, case manager, psychiatrist, etc.) and be date-of-service sensitive.
- 14. Client Electronic Signature. The software supports the ability to import and document client and responsible party signatures from signature pad devices (e.g., for consents for treatment, etc.).
- 15. Staff Electronic Medical Record Signature Standard Compliance. The software supports national standards for signing electronic medical records.
- 16. Support for Multiple Signature Requirements & Progress Note Roll-Up. The system should support instances when multiple staff members write and sign a medical record note (e.g., for day treatment services or shift notes).

- 17. Decision-Support, Evidence-Based Practice (EBP), & Assessment Tools. The software has tools to aid clinicians/caregivers in the treatment and service planning processes. This includes tools to assist in diagnosing conditions, selecting treatment goals and developing service plans, documenting progress towards goals, preventing medication errors, etc. This also includes standard assessment tools used by clinical staff as well as direct access to up-to-date DSM and ICD criteria for diagnosing.
- 18. Custom Assessment Tools. The system should support the ability to create custom assessment tools, including calculation, storing, and export capabilities for assessment scores. Ability to add picture files or help files for staff to view either in the tool or as a pop up. Easily be able to access and use questions that are on other assessments if wanted/needed. Have the ability to create grids and conditional requirement fields.
- 19. Customizable Progress, Telephone, & Shift Notes. The software supports clinical notes for individual, group, and family sessions, telephone contact notes, and staffing shift notes. These notes are customizable by the organization to best meet the requirements of individual programs. [Service Notes have ability to IMPORT/COPY & PASTE from other section of the chart, as well as previous notes]
- **20. Group Notes.** The system should easily handle progress notes for group therapy services such that individual notes and "group" notes can be done simultaneously and become part of individual records.
- **21. Electronic Record Pre-population.** The system should assist users by prepopulating commonly used forms with information already in the database or from previous versions of clinical forms when appropriate.

### B. Psychiatry & Nursing Services Functionality

- 1. Medication Monitoring. The system should allow users to record and monitor medications for clients in care, including drug name, dosage, date range, and prescribing physician. Ideally, the system would also warn about drug interactions or contraindications.
- **2. Medical Conditions & Metrics.** The software allows staff to track other medical conditions and have appropriate alerts as needed (e.g., for medication allergies, etc.) as well as medical metrics such as the AIMS (assessment for voluntary movement scale), weight, blood pressure, BMI (body mass index), sugar levels, height, weight, etc.
- **3. Medication Administration Records.** The system would include a medication electronic administration record (MAR) to ensure that all medications are administered correctly to the right clients in care. <u>Additionally, the MAR should support recording an electronic client signature to verify receipt of the medication.[EMAR REPORT NEEDED].</u>
- **4. Injection Administration Data Tracking.** The software supports tracking injection administration data such as the medication, dosage, administration body site, etc.
- **5. Electronic Prescription Transmission.** The software supports sending electronic prescriptions or faxes to the external pharmacies.

- **6. Tamper-Resistant Prescription Printing.** The software supports printing prescriptions that comply with CMS' requirements regarding tamper-resistant prescription pads.
- 7. Links to Medication Information & Drug Interaction & Contraindications. The software allows easy access to web-based information about drug interactions, contraindications, and client drug information.
- **8. Prescription Refill Reminders.** The software reminds prescribers when client prescriptions need to be refilled.
- **9. Laboratory Interface.** The software supports sending data to and from laboratories for laboratory testing as well as the ability to track laboratory results over time for individual clients.
- 10. Laboratory Result & Medical Condition Alerts. The system should support alerting clinical staff when lab results or other medical metrics are outside normal criteria.
- 11. Formulary & Medication Pre-Certification Support. The software supports tracking insurance formularies so that prescribers can select medications based upon insurance coverage and tiered formularies, if required. Additionally, it should support prescribers in the process of obtaining pre-certification for medications that require them.
- 12. Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) Federal Regulation Supports. The system supports DEA requirements for instances such as controlled medication refills and the faxing/printing of controlled medications.
- 13. Patient Medication Information/Handouts. The system supports printing patient information for prescribed medications.
- **14. Laboratory Orders Sets.** The system supports creation of sets of commonly grouped laboratory orders.
- **15. Medical Supply Inventory Support.** The system supports maintaining an inventory of medical supplies [AND MEDICATION with INVENTORY TRACKING].

### C. Substance Abuse & Dependence Functionality

- 1. Assessment Tool Support. The system supports the use of assorted substance abuse assessment instruments as well as the related reporting. Examples include the following: Addiction Severity Index (ASI)
  - Substance Abuse Subtle Screening Inventory (SASSI) Adult and adolescent version
  - Post Acute Withdrawal Systems (PAWS)
  - Withdrawal Assessment Scale
  - Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment (CIWA)

- 2. Decision-Support & Compliance for ASAM Criteria for Care. The system supports users in determining and selecting levels of care, service modality, and the related services within these modalities in compliance with American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM) criteria as well as supporting compliance with the requirements of third party payers, managed care entities and other external entities, including those related to authorizations, admissions, and provider billing of services.
- 3. Random Appointment Scheduling for Urinalysis & Compliance Monitoring. The system supports random appointment scheduling for urinalysis for substance abuse consumers (and other required testing if needed). The functionality includes the ability for staff to monitor compliance with required testing as well as providing an easy way to notify consumers if they have been selected for testing on a specific day.
- **4. Detoxification Vital Sign Tracking Support.** The system supports the tracking and recording of vital sign information in a detoxification unit. This includes tracking an assortment of vital signs every two hours for roughly 100 patients.

### D. Outpatient Functionality

- 1. Resource-Based Appointment Scheduler Capabilities. The system would support centralized scheduling functions, including rules-based user assistance in finding available appointments based on service need, payer requirements, staff credentials and specialty areas, etc.
- **2. Group Scheduling Support.** The system should also support scheduling appointment for group therapy, including support for scheduling attendance for the designated number of slots for each group. The option to auto schedule groups which automatically updates based on group enrollment for that week. It should be easy to enroll and drop client from group.
- **3. Front Desk Cash Application.** The system supports self-pay payment receipt and cash application at office reception locations.
- 4. Client Arrival Notification. The software has some way of indicating in the scheduler that a client has arrived for an appointment to eliminate the need for the front desk staff to call the clinician's office. Ideally this would also indicate the time the consumer arrived to monitor wait times.
- 5. Front Desk Client Financial Summary Information Access. The software provides front desk staff easy access to summary client financial information such as co-payments required, self-pay balances, authorization statuses, required form updates, requests or notes from billing staff, etc.
- **6. Automatic Service Generation from Scheduler.** The software allows users to indicate that a scheduled service has occurred so that it is available for billing without the need to re-enter service data.

### E. Other Clinical Functionality

- 1. Case Management Notifications. The software supports notifying case management and psychosocial program staff of key events when they occur for clients in care (e.g., no-shows, admissions and discharges, critical incidents, etc.
- 2. Employment Services Data Tracking & Consumer Matching. The system should support tracking employers used in the organization's employment services programs, including data about job positions and requirements, and support for matching consumers with available positions.
- **3. Consumer Employment History.** The system should support tracking consumer employment placement histories.
- 4. Expanded Employment & Support Services Data Tracking. The system should also support tracking a broader array of services used to support consumers in their employment and daily activities, including dependent care support services, wellness services (such as nutritional and fitness coaching), and legal and financial services.
- 5. Prevention Program & Presentation Tracking. The system should support the organization's need to track a variety of group educational and prevention programs, including sometimes tracking demographic data, such as the number of participants, attendee demographics, program type, date range while enrolled in program type, and location rather than individual attendee names.

### F. Additional Compliance, Quality Assurance, & Medical Record Functionality

- 1. Alerts or "Tickler" Capabilities. The software allows users to indicate required components of health/case records, files, outcome measures, satisfaction surveying, and/or required actions, and also have a companion reporting and editing system for identifying incomplete files or pending requirements. Ideally, the "tickler" system will be linked to the staff alert and messaging system.
- 2. Satisfaction & Outcomes Tracking & Analysis. The software has the ability to track date-sensitive, program-specific satisfaction and outcome data for clients as well as having robust capabilities for analyzing this information.
- 3. Critical Incident & Other Required Reporting. The software supports serious incident and other required reporting and follow-up, including tracking seclusions and restraints, medication errors, police interventions, abuse and neglect reporting, etc. Also, the software supports tracking of the investigation of suspected human rights violations, etc. The system allows the tracking of multiple events within a single critical incident if needed.
- **4. Track Progress Note Compliance.** The software has some mechanism for tracking and ensuring that progress notes have been completed and signed for all services entered and billed. Ideally, there should be flexibility in setting up the alerts and parameters regarding requirements for the progress note and other documentation.

- 5. Electronic Record Release. The software enables the easy release of all or part of an electronic medical record, both electronically and via printing. Software alson enables the ability to restrict information being released within the electronic medical record (i.e. other names in client's chart, substance use info, HIV info, etc.)
- **6. Record Release Tracking.** The system should also have an audit trail for the printing parts of the medical record or releasing electronic copies of part of or all of the record.
- 7. Electronic Medical Record Document Routing & "Role Based Charting". The software supports routing medical record documents to supervisors or others for signature or approval as required. This includes the ability to support appropriate oversight of medical doctor residents and staff with specific clinical supervision requirements.
- **8.** VIP Medical Records Protection. The software supports locking a medical record so that only specific individual staff members can access it for cases where the client is a VIP, special, or sensitive case. Need to be able to run a report on this, also.
- 9. Tracking HIPAA & State Specific Medical Record Requirements. The system will support tracking medical records rights under the HIPAA privacy standards as well as those for all states in which the organization operates.
- **10. Accreditation Support.** The system should support tracking compliance with accreditation standards for the standard behavioral health and health care accrediting bodies.
- 11. Enhanced Role-Based System Access Controls. The system should have user access controls that are flexible enough to allow "on the fly" expansions of access to medical records in certain instances and require staff to document the reasons for expanded access. (For example, in an emergency clinical staff members may require access to patient records he or she might not normally see.)
- **12. EHR Document Version Control.** The system should maintain and support the tracking of all versions of medical record forms.
- 13. EHR Archiving & Purge Capability. The software application should have appropriate mechanisms for archiving and retrieving historical records as well as purging records when needed.

### G. Additional Referral & Admission Functionality

- 1. Extensive Call Tracking & Disposition Data. The system should support tracking all crisis and referral call information and data about the disposition of each call. The system should have notes capabilities to support staff in tracking important information about each referral and case. These might include notes about the utilization review process, clinical concerns, issues for billing staff to address, or other requirements.
- **2. Referral Workflow Tracking.** The software should support tracking referral sources and the related workflow for managing admissions to the organization's programs.

- **3. Pre-Admission Checklist Support.** The system should support ticker functionality for patient-specific pre-admission task completion, such as completing clinical and billing reviews and approvals, obtaining required medical equipment before admission, etc.
- **4. Waitlist Tracking.** The software supports tracking clients on waitlists for specific services. This should include data used to prioritize waitlist standings (such as clinical issues, payer information, etc.)

### H. Billing & Accounts Receivable Functionality

- 1. Client Payer & Service Authorization Data. The software supports date-of-service sensitive payer data and service authorizations required for billing for all clients in care (by units, sessions, and/or dollars). It includes the ability to record multiple payers for each client with standard "waterfall" logic for third-party billing.
- 2. Case Management & Service Authorization Management Supports. In addition to supporting the recording of service authorization information, the system should aid case management and/or billing staff in tracking service authorization requests, reductions, and denials; in providing staff advance warning for when authorizations will expire; and in monitoring individual staff member success in obtaining service authorizations.
- 3. Client Service Entry. The software supports user-friendly data entry of billable and non-billable services.
- **4. Pre-billing Edits.** The software has edit capabilities based upon payer requirements and authorization data to prevent billing of claims that are likely to be rejected for payment. This includes more complex payer rules, such as a limitation on the number of particular services that can occur in a time frame.
- 5. Client Fee-For-Service, Per Diem, & Contract Billing. The software supports traditional outpatient billing, per diem billing, and grant or contract fund billing, including support for the billing logic of individual payers.
- **6. Complex Billing Requirement Support.** Additionally the system should support more complex billing requirements such as billing net charges instead of gross, billing bed days but not ancillary charges, bundling services, allowing staff to manually edit the final bills, etc.
- 7. **IBHIS Integration.** The system must support integration directly into IBHIS which is the Los Angeles County Department of Mental Health's (LAC DMH) secure, web-based Health Information Exchange (HIE) system. It was designed to comply with HIPAA and improve clinical service delivery.
- **8. Standard A/R Functionality.** The software supports standard accounts receivable functionality for billing third-party payers, including payment posting, contractual expense write-offs, bad debt write-off, balance billing, and rebilling.
- 9. Client Sliding Scale Fee Screen. The software supports client-specific sliding scale fees for services in both flat fees and as a percentage of the gross service charge.
- 10. Client Sliding Scale Fee Calculation. The software supports calculation of the client sliding scale fee based upon income and family size.

- 11. Electronic Remittance Posting & Waterfall Billing. The software supports electronic remittance posting (835) for both payments and denials and then automatic billing for paid claims to the next payer for clients ("waterfall billing").
- 12. Guarantor Private Pay Statements. The software supports generating guarantor private pay statements with flexible content.
- 13. Split Guarantor Private Pay Statements. The system should support splitting the billing between two guarantors in the instance that there is more than one guarantor for the client in care.
- **14. Payer Eligibility Data Import.** The software supports import of payer eligibility data (270/271).
- 15. Consumer Fund Tracking. The software assists staff in tracking consumer funds that are monitored by the organization, including fund receipts and disbursements.
- 16. Medicare Incident to Billing Support. The software supports tracking both the rendering and physically present incident to supervisor for services for Medicare consumers as required. Supports a clearinghouse to submit secure SFTP file transfers to Noridian Healthcare Solutions for Medicare claims.
- 17. Transportation Billing. The system should support billing for consumer transportation services, including support for fixed rate and mileage-based billing
- **18. HIPAA 837 Transactions.** Software to generate outbound HIPAA ASC X12 Health Care Professional 837 I/P transaction claims.
- **19. Health Care Claim Acknowledgment Transaction (277CA).** Software to link an 837 to the 277CA for all claims.
- **20. Payor Financial Information (PFI) forms.** Software has the capability to complete PFI forms electronically and store in the client's electronic health record.

### I. Management & Performance Reporting Functionality Reporting

- 1. Built-In Support for Compliance Reporting. The system should have the ability to support all state and other externally mandated reporting requirements for providers in all states in which the organization operates. Should be able to automatically transfer required data to LACDMH and/or State organizations.
- **2. Management Metrics Dashboard.** Ideally, the system would also support developing a management reporting dashboard to help monitor key strategic and operational metrics. Flexibility is needed for data fields. Should be able to easily add/change/remove data fields. All data fields should be easily exported into an external data file. Ad hoc reports should be easily created by selecting the needed fields for the report.
- 3. Staff Productivity Management Support Capabilities. The system should support management efforts to manage clinical staff productivity by recording requirement productivity standards and supporting reporting and dashboard capabilities for managing actual productivity in comparison to requirements.

- **4. Clinician Staff Credentialing & Privileging Support.** The system should support tracking demographic, licensing, credentials, and payer privileges for clinical staff members. This information should be integrated into scheduling and billing functionality to aid the organization in ensuring that all payer rules are met and claims for services will be paid.
- **5. Clinical Supervision Support.** The system should support tracking clinical supervision of staff members and interns, including documenting supervision events and supervisory notes.

### J. Other Core System Functionality

- 1. Internal Staff Alert & Messaging System. The software supports the ability to alert and message the organization's staff for important clinical and administrative requirements either directly or via interface with Microsoft Outlook.
- 2. Voice Recognition Software & Transcription Support. The software supports the use of voice recognition software by clinical staff during clinical record keeping as well.
- 3. Consumer/Family/Network Provider Portals. The software application should support consumer, family, or network provider access to defined and discrete parts of the system via portals for various functions such as communication, data entry, screening tool/forms (with ability to sign electronically, electronic record review, etc.
  - 4. HIE of Service Request Information with Los Angeles County DMH
  - 5. HIE of CANS & PSC-35 with Los Angeles County DMH
  - 6. The system audit trail/track and report.
    - What records were accessed, date, time, by whom, and actions that were done
    - What fields were modified, date, time, by whom, and the changes made
- 7. Client and Services Information (CSI). Software able to generate a client and service information (CSI) data file that is required by California Department of Health Care Services. Also to create a unique alpha numeric code for each client to be used as the county client number (CCN) in the CSI data file.

**Instructions:** In the **Proposer Response** column, place an X in the column to indicate whether or not the requested functionality is available in the software application in your current release to all customers. In the **Comment** column, circle Yes or No to indicate whether you have additional comments regarding this specification in the Functionality Proposer Comments section of the RFP.

Number	Specification	Proposer Response		Comment?
		Yes	No	
	Standard & Program Specific Client			
A1	Demographic Data			
A2	Alias & Previous Name Support			
A3	Consumer Photo			
A4	Required Form Generation & Tickler System			

Number	Specification	Prop Resp		Comment?
		Yes	No	
A5	Admission, Transfers, & Discharge Information			
A6	Referral Tracking			
A7	Referral & Admission Notes			
	Support for Automatic Referral Letter & Fax			
A8	Generation			
A9	Discharge Planning & Referral Tracking			
A10	Family & Relationship Tracking			
A11	DSM & ICD Diagnoses			
A12	Master Individual Service Plans			
A13	Care Provider Tracking			
A14	Client Electronic Signature			
A15	Staff Electronic Medical Record Signature			
	Standard Compliance			
A16	Support for Multiple Signature Requirements			
	& Progress Note Roll-Up			
A17	Decision-Support, Evidence-Based Practice			
	(EBP), & Assessment Tools			
A18	Custom Assessment Tools			
A19	Customizable Progress, Telephone, & Shift			
	Notes			
A20	Group Notes			
A21	Electronic Record Pre-population			
D4	Advidente a Advida de			
B1	Medication Monitoring			
B2	Medical Conditions & Metrics			
B3	Medication Administration Records			
B4	Injection Administration Data Tracking Electronic Prescription Transmission			
B5 B6	'			
B7	Tamper-Resistant Prescription Printing Links to Medication Information & Drug			
Б/	Interaction & Contraindications			
B8	Prescription Refill Reminders			
B9	Laboratory Interface			
B10	Laboratory Result & Medical Condition Alerts			
B11	Formulary & Medication Pre-Certification			
DII	Support			
B12	Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA)			
	Federal Regulation Supports			
B13	Patient Medication Information/Handouts			
B14	Laboratory Orders Sets			
B15	Medical Supply Inventory Support			
C1	Assessment Tool Support			

Number	Specification	Proposer Response		Comment?
		Yes	No	
C2	Decision-Support & Compliance for ASAM Criteria for Care			
C3	Random Appointment Scheduling for Urinalysis & Compliance Monitoring			
C4	Detoxification Vital Sign Tracking Support			
D1	Resource-Based Appointment Scheduler Capabilities			
D2	Group Scheduling Support			
D3	Front Desk Cash Application			
D4	Client Arrival Notification			
D5	Front Desk Client Financial Summary Information Access			
D6	Automatic Service Generation from Scheduler			
		<u> </u>		
E1	Case Management Notifications			
E2	Employment Services Data Tracking & Consumer Matching			
E3	Consumer Employment History			
E4	Expanded Employment & Support Services Data Tracking			
E5	Prevention Program & Presentation Tracking			
F1	Alerts or "Tickler" Capabilities			
F2	Satisfaction & Outcomes Tracking & Analysis			
F3	Critical Incident & Other Required Reporting			
F4	Track Progress Note Compliance			
F5	Electronic Record Release			
F6	Record Release Tracking			
F7	Electronic Medical Record Document Routing & "Role Based Charting"			
F8	VIP Medical Records Protection			
F9	Tracking HIPAA & State Specific Medical Record Requirements			
F10	Accreditation Support			
F11	Enhanced Role-Based System Access Controls			
F12	EHR Document Version Control			
F13	EHR Archiving & Purge Capability			
64	5	<u> </u>	ı	
G1	Extensive Call Tracking & Disposition Data			
G2	Referral Workflow Tracking			

Number	Specification		oser onse	Comment?
		Yes	No	
G3	Pre-Admission Checklist Support			
G4	Waitlist Tracking			
H1	Client Payer & Service Authorization Data			
H2	Case Management & Service Authorization			
	Management Supports			
H3	Client Service Entry			
H4	Pre-billing Edits			
H5	Client Fee-For-Service, Per Diem, & Contract Billing			
H6	Complex Billing Requirement Support			
H7	IBHIS Integration			
Н8	Standard A/R Functionality			
Н9	Client Sliding Scale Fee Screen			
H10	Client Sliding Scale Fee Calculation			
H11	Electronic Remittance Posting & Waterfall Billing			
H12	Guarantor Private Pay Statements			
H13	Split Guarantor Private Pay Statements			
H14	Payer Eligibility Data Import			
H15	Consumer Fund Tracking			
H16	Medicare Incident to Billing Support			
H17	Transportation Billing			
H18	HIPAA 837 Transactions			
H19	Health Care Claim Acknowledgment (277CA)			
H20	Payor Financial Information (PEI) Forms			
l1	Built-In Support for Compliance Reporting			
i2	Management Metrics Dashboard			
13	Staff Productivity Management Support Capabilities			
14	Clinician Staff Credentialing & Privileging Support			
15	Clinical Supervision Support			
J1	Internal Staff Alert & Messaging System			
J2	Voice Recognition Software & Transcription			
	Support			
J3	Consumer/Family/Network Provider Portals			
J4	HIE of Service Request Info for LACDMH			
J5	HIE of CANS & PSC-35 with LACDMH			
J6	System Audit Trail/Track and Report			
J7	Client and Services Information (CSI)			

### ATTACHMENT B

### **RFP COVER PAGE**

Name of Person, Business or Organization:	
<b>Type of Entity</b> : (e.g. Sole-Proprietorship, Partnership, Corporation, Non-Profit, Public)	
Federal Tax ID Number:	
Contact Person – Name	
Contact Person – Address	
Contact Person – Phone Number (s)	
Contact Person – e-mail address	
in the RFP; that I am authorized to bind the Is proposal be accepted, I am authorized and abl	
SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED REPRES	SENTATIVE DATE

### **ATTACHMENT C**

### PROPOSER'S COMPANY INFORMATION, REFERENCES AND SUBCONTRACTORS

Company Name:	Address:
Owner, Principal Officer:	Headquarters Location/Date of Establishment:
Email:	Website:
Phone:	Fax:
of work of this proposal:	numbers/classification applicable or required for the scope
Have you ever operated this business un	nder a different name? Yes No
If yes, please explain:	

List references of projects that your company is currently *working on or completed* in the last 5 years of similar size and scope of work for this proposal:

pe of Work:  eement Amount:  npany Name:  tact e-mail:  pe of Work:  eement Amount:	Contact Name:Contact Phone:
npany Name: tact e-mail: pe of Work: eement Amount:	Agreement Start/End Date:Contact Name:Contact Phone:
npany Name:tact e-mail:pe of Work:eement Amount:	
tact e-mail:  pe of Work:  eement Amount:	Contact Phone:
pe of Work:eement Amount:	
eement Amount:	
	Agreement Start/End Date:
npany Name:	Contact Name:
tact e-mail:	Contact Phone:
pe of Work:	
eement Amount:	Agreement Start/End Date:
Company Name:	Contact Name:
	Contact Phone:
	Years in Business:
Scope of Work:	
Company Name:	Contact Name:
Contact e-mail:	Contact Phone:
Specialty:	Years in Business:
Scope of Work:	
	ovide details on any litigation in which your firm has been f none, then write "NONE."
	contractors to be utilized, if apple Company Name:  Contact e-mail:  Specialty:  Company Name:  Company Name:  Contact e-mail:  Contact e-mail:  Specialty:  Contact e-mail:

#### **ATTACHMENT D**

### PROPOSER COMPANY WORK PROCESS INFORMATION

As part of proposal, Proposers are requested to provide detailed responses for the following:

### **Company Overview**

Describe your company and what key qualifications you have to meet TCMHA's requirements. Ideally, this would also include information about the financial stability of your company. Please also include any relevant security certifications/audits, including the latest SSAE 16 Report/Letter (formerly known as SAS 70 SOC II).

### **Technical Information & Infrastructure Requirements**

TCMHA is looking for detailed technical information about your software solution as well as the infrastructure requirements needed to successfully deploy your application. Please detail the hardware, network, and communication infrastructure requirements needed to support your application as well as any other technical information you deem necessary to understand how to fully deploy and support your application.

### Training, Implementation, Support, Data Conversion, & Software Upgrades

Describe your organization's typical approaches to training, implementation, support, data conversion, and software upgrades. Include the following detailed information in this section:

- Provide a detailed description of your experience, ability, and process for data conversion from Welligent. Please include any known challenges and risks.
- The number of full-time equivalent (FTE) staff members you have in each of these operational areas.
- Information on a typical implementation services, including key tasks, timelines, and staff members involved both from your organization and the purchaser.
- The operations of your Help Desk, including information on 24/7 availability, how calls are prioritized, response times, whether the caller has routine access to live staff and all other information of interest to a customer.
- Information about User Groups.
- Any other technical information you deem necessary to understand how to fully deploy and support your application.
- Information about how customers are involved in the software enhancement decision process and how frequently upgrades occur.
- How requests for customization of the software are handled.
- What are the hours and methods (phone, e-mail, web) of support for each type of technical support?

[Continued on Page 2]

### **Functional Specifications Comment (Optional)**

Please comment on the individual functional specifications as referenced in "Attachment A", if desired. This section is not required.

### **Report Writing Capabilities**

Please describe the report writing capability of your technology solutions, including a listing and description of standard reports, export capabilities, and compatibility with other applications, ease of use, etc. Specifically, TCMHA desires the following key elements in a report writer:

- A report-writer interface that is comprehensive and easy to use, allowing reporting on all data elements in the system.
- Ability to write custom reports and write and use stored procedures.
- Data-warehouse and data mining capabilities.
- A data dictionary and supporting documentation.
- An extensive library of reports, with commonly used queries and sorts, which can be customized as needed by the customer.
- Ability to save and name report templates.
- Ability to run reports in batches.
- Ability to run reports or report batches at scheduled times.
- Ability to support all state and other externally mandated reporting requirements for behavioral health and substance abuse agencies in all states in which TCMHA operates.
- Ability to create management information dashboards.

### **Electronic Record Capability**

Detail how your software solution will support the creation of electronic medical records as well as any other electronic data forms that TCMHA's requirements and how end users (versus you as the Proposer/Contractor) will be able to customize the electronic record. TCMHA is expecting to find a highly configurable system that supports its changing requirements for data collection and electronic case and medical records.

### Scanning, Document Management, & Record Release Capabilities

Detail how your software solution supports scanning and managing documents that are created by other parties so that they can be included in a case or medical record. Additionally, describe how the system supports releasing parts or all of the case or electronic records to other parties, both in paper and secure electronic formats.

### **Mobile Solutions**

Detail how your software solution supports field and home-based service providers with mobile access to your software solutions. <u>Additionally, please indicate whether you offer a "disconnected" or off-line mobile solution and describe its functionality and requirements.</u>

### **Software Interface & Data Exchange Capabilities**

Describe your organization's expertise in interfacing with common general ledger and human resource applications. Additionally, describe your experience in helping provider organizations share data with other providers and stakeholders (for example through regional health information organizations or similar provider data sharing). Note that TCMHA uses the following general ledger and human resources software applications:

- Sage Peachtree
- ADP Workforce

### **Experience in California**

Deliver your organization's proven track record/past history with other county mental health, similar to TCMHA, of successful implementations in the California reporting to LACDMH (LA County Department of Mental Health - including support for this state's versions of electronic billing forms, interfaces with state systems, etc.

### Plans for Compliance with Federal Standards for Meaningful Use and Electronic Health Records & Health Information Exchange (HIE)

Describe your organization's experience, current certifications, and plans to obtain certification and comply with the various Federal Standards for meaningful use of electronic health records and health information exchange.

#### **Experience with Integration with Primary Care**

Describe your organization's experience with aiding behavioral health providers with integrating with primary care providers through data exchange. Please provide any specific examples of customers who operate primary care services in addition to behavioral health services as well as those who are already collaborating and sharing data with primary care providers and facilities.

### **ATTACHMENT E**

## EXCEPTION(S) TO SPECIFICATIONS AND/OR REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

We have no exceptions to the Scope of Work/Requirements
We <b>have</b> exceptions to the Scope of Work/Requirements as listed below. Exceptions to the Scope of Work/Requirements stated herein shall be fully described in writing by the Proposer in the space provided below. Any alternate must be approved by Tri-City Mental Health JAuthority no less than 10 business days prior to the closing date.
We <b>have no</b> exceptions to any other section of the Proposal Document.
We <b>have</b> exceptions to the Request For Proposal Document stated herein shall be fully described in writing by the Proposer in the space provided below.

### **EXHIBIT F**

### PROPOSER PRICE PROPOSAL

Please use the following template to submit your pricing proposal.

Section #1: One-time costs												
	Year	One	Year	Two	Year T	hree	Year I	our	Year	Five	Tot	al
Software License	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Training	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Implementation	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Data Conversion	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Other:	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Other:	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Other:	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Other:	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Section #1 TOTAL	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Section #2: On-going costs												
	Year	One	Year	Two	Year T	hree	Year I	our	Year	Five	Tot	:al
Maintenance	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Other:	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Other:	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Other:	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Other:	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Section #2 TOTAL	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
TOTAL (Sections 1 & 2)	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	

**ATTACHMENT G** 



# CONTRACTOR'S ATTESTATION THAT IT NOR ANY OF ITS STAFF MEMBERS IS RESTRICTED, EXCLUDED OR SUSPENDED FROM PROVIDING GOODS OR SERVICES UNDER ANY FEDERAL OR STATE HEALTH CARE PROGRAM

Contractor's Name	Last	First
suspended from providi or State Government, d City Mental Health Auth require Contractor or a Federal or State funded of the Federal or State the staff members from	ng goods or services under irectly or indirectly, in whole nority (TCMHA) within thirty staff member's mandatory health care program; and Government against Contr	of its staff members is restricted, excluded, or any health care program funded by the Federal e or in part, and the Contractor will notify the Trivial (30) days in writing of:1) any event that would exclusion or suspension from participation in a 2) any exclusionary action taken by any agency actor or one or more staff members barring it of State funded health care program, whether such nole or in part.
may suffer arising from	the Federal or State exc	ess against any and all loss or damage Contractor clusion or suspension of Contractor or its staff ate funded health care program.
		this paragraph shall constitute a material breach erminate or suspend this Agreement.
	r/Vendor or any of its staf	f members currently barred from participation ram?
	or any of its staff members funded health care progran	is not currently barred from participation in any
		ers is currently barred from participation in any n. Describe the particulars on a separate page.
Date	Contractor or Vendor's	Name Contractor or Vendor's Signature
	Antonette Navarro, Execut	ive Director
Date	TCMHA Executive Officia	l's Name TCMHA Executive Official's Signature
DISTRIBUTION:		

Attachment G, Page 1 of 1

COPIES: HR Representative, Contractor, Finance

RFP For Electronic Health Record Software Platform

### **ATTACHMENT H**



#### BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

This BU	SINE	SS ASSOCIA	TE AGRE	EEMENT (" <b>BAA</b>	") is made	as of	this	day of
,	20	(the "Effective	ve Date")	by and between	TRI-CITY	MEN	NTAL HE	EALTH
AUTHORITY,	a	Covered	Entity	("Covered	Entity"	or	"CE")	and
				("Business	Associate	or or	"BA") (	each a
"party" and, col	llective	ely, the " <b>part</b> i	ies").					

### **RECITALS**

- **A.** CE is a "covered entity" under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Public Law 104-191 ("**HIPAA**") and, as such, must enter into so-called "business associate" contracts with certain contractors that may have access to certain consumer medical information.
- **B.** Pursuant to the terms of one or more agreements between the parties, whether oral or in writing, (collectively, the "**Agreement**"), BA shall provide certain services to CE. To facilitate BA's provision of such services, CE wishes to disclose certain information to BA, some of which may constitute Protected Health Information ("**PHI**") (defined below).
- C. CE and BA intend to protect the privacy and provide for the security of PHI disclosed to BA pursuant to the Agreement in compliance with HIPAA, the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, Public Law 111-005 ("HITECH Act"), and regulations promulgated thereunder by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ("HIPAA Regulations") and other applicable laws, including without limitation state patient privacy laws (including the Lanterman-Petris-Short Act), as such laws may be amended from time to time.
- **D.** As part of the HIPAA Regulations, the Privacy Rule and the Security Rule (defined below) require CE to enter into a contract containing specific requirements with BA prior to the disclosure of PHI (defined below), as set forth in, but not limited to, Title 45, Sections 164.314(a), 164.502(e) and 164.504(e) of the Code of Federal Regulations ("**C.F.R**.") and contained in this BAA.

**NOW, THEREFORE**, in consideration of the mutual promises below and the exchange of information pursuant to this BAA, CE and BA agree as follows:

### **AGREEMENT**

### I. Definitions.

**A. Breach** shall have the meaning given to such term under 42 U.S.C. § 17921(1) and 45 C.F.R. § 164.402.

- **B. Business Associate** shall have the meaning given to such term under 42 U.S.C. § 17921 and 45 C.F.R. § 160.103.
- **C. Consumer** is an individual who is requesting or receiving mental health services and/or has received services in the past. Any consumer certified as eligible under the Medi-Cal program according to Title 22, Section 51001 is also known as a beneficiary.
- **D.** Covered Entity shall have the meaning given to such term under 45 C.F.R. § 160.103.
- **E. Data Aggregation** shall have the meaning given to such term under 45 C.F.R. § 164.501.
- **F. Designated Record Set** shall have the meaning given to such term 45 C.F.R. § 164.501.
- **G. Electronic Protected Health Information** or **EPHI** means Protected Health Information that is maintained in or transmitted by electronic media.
- **H.** Electronic Health Record shall have the meaning given to such term under 42 U.S.C. § 17921(5).
- **I. Health Care Operations** shall have the meaning given to such term under 45 C.F.R. § 164.501.
- **J. Privacy Rule** shall mean the HIPAA Regulation that is codified at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, Subparts A and E.
- **K. Protected Health Information** or **PHI** means any information, whether oral or recorded in any form or medium: (i) that relates to the past, present or future physical or mental condition of an individual; the provision of health care to an individual; or the past, present or future payment for the provision of health care to an individual; and (ii) that identifies the individual or with respect to which there is a reasonable basis to believe the information can be used to identify the individual, and shall have the meaning given to such term under 45 C.F.R. § 160.103. Protected Health Information includes Electronic Protected Health Information.
- **L. Protected Information** shall mean PHI provided by CE to BA or created or received by BA on CE's behalf.
- **M. Security Rule** shall mean the HIPAA Regulation that is codified at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, Subparts A and C.
- **N. Subcontractor** shall mean a person to whom a business associate delegates a function, activity, or service, other than in the capacity of a member of the workforce of such business associate, pursuant to 45 C.F.R. § 160.103.
- **O. Unsecured PHI** shall have the meaning given to such term under 42 U.S.C. § 17932(h), 45 C.F.R. § 164.402 and guidance issued pursuant to the HITECH Act including, but not limited to that issued on April 17, 2009 and published in 74 <u>Federal Register</u> 19006 (April 27, 2009), by the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ("**Secretary**").

### II. Obligations of Business Associate.

- Α. **Permitted Access, Use or Disclosure.** BA shall neither permit the unauthorized or unlawful access to, nor use or disclose, PHI other than as permitted or required by the Agreement, this BAA, or as required by law, including but not limited to the Privacy Rule. To the extent that BA carries out CE's obligations under the Privacy Rule, BA shall comply with the requirements of the Privacy Rule that apply to CE in the performance of such obligations. Except as otherwise limited in the Agreement, this BAA, or the Privacy Rule or Security Rule, BA may access, use, or disclose PHI (i) to perform its services as specified in the Agreement; and (ii) for the proper administration of BA, provided that such access, use, or disclosure would not violate HIPAA, the HITECH Act, the HIPAA Regulations, or applicable state law if done or maintained by CE. If BA discloses Protected Information to a third party, BA must obtain, prior to making any such disclosure, (i) reasonable assurances from such third party that such Protected Information will be held confidential as provided pursuant to this BAA and only disclosed as required by law or for the purposes for which it was disclosed to such third party, and (ii) agreement from such third party to promptly notify BA of any Breaches of confidentiality of the Protected Information, to the extent it has obtained knowledge of such Breach.
- **B. Prohibited Uses and Disclosures.** Notwithstanding any other provision in this BAA, BA shall comply with the following requirements: (i) BA shall not use or disclose Protected Information for fundraising or marketing purposes, except as provided under the Agreement and consistent with the requirements of the HITECH Act, the HIPAA Regulations, and applicable state law, including but not limited to 42 U.S.C. § 17936, 45 C.F.R. § 164.508, and 45 C.F.R. § 164.514(f); (ii) BA shall not disclose Protected Information to a health plan for payment or health care operations purposes if the patient has requested this special restriction, and has paid out of pocket in full for the health care item or service to which the PHI solely relates, 42 U.S.C. § 17935(a); 45 C.F.R. § 164.522(a); (iii) BA shall not directly or indirectly receive remuneration in exchange for Protected Information, except with the prior written consent of CE and as permitted by the HITECH Act, 42 U.S.C. § 17935(d)(2); 45 C.F.R. § 164.502(a)(5); however, this prohibition shall not affect payment by CE to BA for services provided pursuant to the Agreement.
- C. Appropriate Safeguards. BA shall comply, where applicable, with the HIPAA Security Rule, including but not limited to 45 C.F.R. §§ 164.308, 164.310, and 164.312 and the policies and procedures and documentation requirements set forth in 45 C.F.R. § 164.316, and shall implement appropriate safeguards designed to prevent the access, use or disclosure of Protected Information other than as permitted by the Agreement or this BAA. BA shall use administrative, physical and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of EPHI.

### D. Reporting of Improper Access, Use, or Disclosure.

1. Generally. BA shall provide an initial telephone report to CE's Compliance Contact within twenty-four (24) hours of any suspected or actual breach of security, intrusion or unauthorized access, use, or disclosure of PHI of which BA becomes aware and/or any actual or suspected access, use, or disclosure of data in violation of the Agreement, this BAA, or any applicable federal or state laws or regulations, including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Security Incident (as defined in 45 C.F.R. § 164.304).

BA shall take (i) prompt corrective action to cure any deficiencies in its policies and procedures that may have led to the incident, and (ii) any action pertaining to such unauthorized access, use, or disclosure required of BA by applicable federal and state laws and regulations.

- Breaches of Unsecured PHI. Without limiting the generality of the reporting requirements set forth in Section D(1), BA shall report to CE any use or disclosure of the information not permitted by this BAA, including any Breach of Unsecured PHI pursuant to 45 C.F.R. § 164.410. Following the discovery of any Breach of Unsecured PHI, BA shall notify CE in writing of such Breach without unreasonable delay and in no case later than three (3) days after discovery. The notice shall include the following information if known (or can be reasonably obtained) by BA: (i) contact information for the individuals who were or who may have been impacted by the Breach (e.g., first and last name, mailing address, street address, phone number, email address); (ii) a brief description of the circumstances of the Breach, including the date of the Breach and date of discovery (as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 17932(c)); (iii) a description of the types of Unsecured PHI involved in the Breach (e.g., names, social security numbers, date of birth, addresses, account numbers of any type, disability codes, diagnostic and/or billing codes and similar information); (iv) a brief description of what the BA has done or is doing to investigate the Breach and to mitigate harm to the individuals impacted by the Breach; (v) any other available information that CE is required to include in notification to the individual under 45 C.F.R. § 164.404.
- **3. Mitigation.** BA shall establish and maintain safeguards to mitigate, to the extent practicable, any deleterious effects known to BA of any unauthorized or unlawful access or use or disclosure of PHI not authorized by the Agreement, this BAA, or applicable federal or state laws or regulations; provided, however, that such mitigation efforts by BA shall not require BA to bear the costs of notifying individuals impacted by such unauthorized or unlawful access, use, or disclosure of PHI, unless (i) otherwise agreed in writing by the parties, (2) BA bears responsibility for the unauthorized or unlawful access or use or disclosure of PHI, or (3) required by applicable federal or state laws or regulations; provided, further, however, that BA shall remain fully responsible for all aspects of its reporting duties to CE under Section D(1) and Section D(2).
- **E. Business Associate's Subcontractors and Agents.** BA shall ensure that any agents or Subcontractors to whom it provides Protected Information agree to the same restrictions and conditions that apply to BA with respect to such PHI. To the extent that BA creates, maintains, receives or transmits EPHI on behalf of the CE, BA shall ensure that any of BA's agents or Subcontractors to whom it provides Protected Information agree to implement the safeguards required by <u>Section C</u> above with respect to such EPHI.
- **F.** Access to Protected Information. To the extent BA maintains a Designated Record Set on behalf of the CE, BA shall make Protected Information maintained by BA or its agents or Subcontractors in Designated Record Sets available to CE for inspection and copying within ten (10) days of a request by CE to enable CE to fulfill its obligations under the Privacy Rule, including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. § 164.524. If BA maintains an Electronic Health Record, BA shall provide such information in electronic format to enable CE to fulfill its obligations under the HITECH Act, including, but not limited to, 42 U.S.C. § 17935(e).

- **G.** Amendment of PHI. To the extent BA maintains a Designated Record Set on behalf of CE, within ten (10) days of receipt of a request from the CE for an amendment of Protected Information or a record about an individual contained in a Designated Record Set, BA or its agents or Subcontractors shall make PHI available to CE so that CE may make any amendments that CE directs or agrees to in accordance with the Privacy Rule.
- Accounting Rights. Within ten (10) days of notice by CE of a request for an H. accounting of disclosures of Protected Information, BA and its agents or Subcontractors shall make available to CE the information required to provide an accounting of disclosures to enable CE to fulfill its obligations under the Privacy Rule, including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. § 164.528, and its obligations under the HITECH Act, including but not limited to 42 U.S.C. § 17935(c), as determined by CE. BA agrees to implement a process that allows for an accounting to be collected and maintained by BA and its agents or Subcontractors for at least six (6) years prior to the request. However, accounting of disclosures from an Electronic Health Record for treatment, payment, or health care operations purposes are required to be collected and maintained for three (3) years prior to the request, and only to the extent BA maintains an electronic health record and is subject to this requirement. At a minimum, the information collected and maintained shall include, to the extent known to BA: (i) the date of the disclosure; (ii) the name of the entity or person who received PHI and, if known, the address of the entity or person; (iii) a brief description of the PHI disclosed; and (iv) a brief statement of the purpose of the disclosure that reasonably informs the individual of the basis for the disclosure, or a copy of the individual's authorization, or a copy of the written request for disclosure. The accounting must be provided without cost to the individual or the requesting party if it is the first accounting requested by such individual within any twelve (12) month period. For subsequent accountings within a twelve (12) month period, BA may charge the individual or party requesting the accounting a reasonable cost-based fee in responding to the request, to the extent permitted by applicable law, so long as BA informs the individual or requesting party in advance of the fee and the individual or requesting party is afforded an opportunity to withdraw or modify the request. BA shall notify CE within five (5) business days of receipt of any request by an individual or other requesting party for an accounting of disclosures. The provisions of this Section H shall survive the termination of this BAA.
- I. Governmental Access to Records. BA shall make its internal practices, books and records relating to the use and disclosure of Protected Information available to CE and to the Secretary for purposes of determining BA's compliance with the Privacy Rule. BA shall immediately notify CE of any requests made by the Secretary and provide CE with copies of any documents produced in response to such request.
- J. Minimum Necessary. BA (and its agents or Subcontractors) shall request, use, and disclose only the minimum amount of Protected Information necessary to accomplish the purpose of the request, use, or disclosure. Because the definition of "minimum necessary" is in flux, BA shall keep itself informed of guidance issued by the Secretary with respect to what constitutes "minimum necessary." Notwithstanding the foregoing, BA must limit its (and its agents or Subcontractors) uses and disclosures of Protected Information to be consistent with CE's minimum necessary policies and procedures as furnished to BA.

- **K. Permissible Requests by Covered Entity.** CE shall not request BA to use or disclose PHI in any manner that would not be permissible under HIPAA or the HITECH Act if done by CE or BA. CE shall not direct BA to act in a manner that would not be compliant with the Security Rule, the Privacy Rule, or the HITECH Act.
- L. Breach Pattern or Practice. If CE knows of a pattern of activity or practice of the BA that constitutes a material breach or violation of BA's obligations under this BAA or other arrangement, CE must take reasonable steps to cure the breach or end the violation. If the steps are unsuccessful, CE must terminate the applicable Agreement to which the breach and/or violation relates if feasible. If BA knows of a pattern of activity or practice of an agent or Subcontractor that constitutes a material breach or violation of the agent or Subcontractor's obligations under its BAA or other arrangement with BA, BA must take reasonable steps to cure the breach or end the violation. If the steps are unsuccessful, BA must terminate the applicable agreement to which the breach and/or violation relates if feasible.

### III. Indemnification; Limitation of Liability.

To the extent permitted by law, BA shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless CE from any and all liability, claim, lawsuit, injury, loss, expense or damage resulting from or relating to the acts or omissions of BA or its agents, Subcontractors or employees in connection with the representations, duties and obligations of BA under this Agreement. Any limitation of liability contained in the applicable Agreement shall not apply to the indemnification requirement of this provision. This provision shall survive the termination of this BAA.

#### IV. Business Associate's Insurance.

BA shall obtain insurance for itself and all its employees, agents and independent contractors in an amount not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) per occurrence and Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000) annual aggregate of Commercial General Liability insurance and Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000) per occurrence and Four Million Dollars (\$4,000,000) annual aggregate of Errors and Omissions insurance. The Errors and Omissions insurance shall cover, among other things, Breaches. If the general liability or the errors and omissions insurance do not cover, among other things, Breaches, Business Associate should also carry Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000) per occurrence and Four Million Dollars (\$4,000,000) annual aggregate of Cyber/Privacy insurance that covers, among other things, Breaches. BA shall provide CE with certificates of insurance or other written evidence of the insurance policy or policies required herein prior to execution of this BAA (or as shortly thereafter as is practicable) and as of each annual renewal of such insurance policies during the period of such coverage. Further, in the event of any modification, termination, expiration, non-renewal or cancellation of any of such insurance policies, BA shall give written notice thereof to CE not more than ten (10) days following BA's receipt of such notification. If BA fails to procure, maintain or pay for the insurance required under this section, CE shall have the right, but not the obligation, to obtain such insurance. In such event, BA shall promptly reimburse CE for the cost thereof upon written request, and failure to repay the same upon demand by CE shall constitute a material breach of this BAA.

#### V. Term and Termination.

**A. Term**. The term of this BAA shall be effective as of the Effective Date and shall terminate when all of the PHI provided by CE to BA, or created or received by BA on behalf of CE, is destroyed or returned to CE.

#### B. Termination.

- **1. Material Breach by BA**. Upon any material breach of this BAA by BA, CE shall provide BA with written notice of such breach and such breach shall be cured by BA within thirty (30) business days of such notice. If such breach is not cured within such time period, CE may immediately terminate this BAA and the applicable Agreement.
- **2. Effect of Termination**. Upon termination of any of the agreements comprising the Agreement for any reason, BA shall, if feasible, return or destroy all PHI relating to such agreements that BA or its agents or Subcontractors still maintain in any form, and shall retain no copies of such PHI. If return or destruction is not feasible, BA shall continue to extend the protections of this BAA to such information, and limit further use of such PHI to those purposes that make the return or destruction of such PHI infeasible.

### VI. Assistance in Litigation.

BA shall make itself and any subcontractors, employees or agents assisting BA in the performance of its obligations under the Agreements or this BAA available to CE, at no cost to CE, to testify as witnesses, or otherwise, in the event of litigation or administrative proceedings being commenced against CE, its shareholders, directors, officers, agents or employees based upon a claim of violation of HIPAA, the HITECH Act, or other laws related to security and privacy, except where BA or its subcontractor, employee or agent is named as an adverse party.

#### VII. Compliance with State Law.

Nothing in this BAA shall be construed to require BA to use or disclose Protected Information without a written authorization from an individual who is a subject of the Protected Information, or without written authorization from any other person, where such authorization would be required under state law for such use or disclosure.

#### VIII. Compliance with 42 C.F.R. Part 2.

CE is also subject to the Confidentiality of Alcohol and Drug Abuse Patient Records regulations, 42 C.F.R. Part 2, which requires certain programs to enter into contracts with qualified service organizations (as defined in 42 C.F.R. § 2.11) that may have access to certain patient medical information. BA acknowledges that in receiving, storing, processing, or otherwise dealing with any Records (as defined in 42 C.F.R. Part 2) from CE, BA is fully bound by 42 C.F.R. Part 2. BA agrees to resist in judicial proceedings any efforts to obtain access to patient records except as permitted by 42 C.F.R. Part 2. To the extent any provisions of 42 C.F.R. Part 2 restricting disclosure of Records are more protective of privacy rights than the provisions of this BAA, HIPAA, the HITECH Act, or other applicable laws, 42 C.F.R. Part 2 controls.

### **IX.** Amendment to Comply with Law.

Because state and federal laws relating to data security and privacy are rapidly evolving, amendment of the Agreement or this BAA may be required to provide for procedures to ensure compliance with such developments. BA and CE shall take such action as is necessary to implement the standards and requirements of HIPAA, the HITECH Act, the Privacy Rule, the Security Rule and other applicable laws relating to the security or confidentiality of PHI. BA shall provide to CE satisfactory written assurance that BA will adequately safeguard all PHI. Upon the request of either party, the other party shall promptly enter into negotiations concerning the terms of an amendment to this BAA embodying written assurances consistent with the standards and requirements of HIPAA, the HITECH Act, the Privacy Rule, the Security Rule or other applicable laws. CE may terminate the applicable Agreement upon thirty (30) days written notice in the event (i) BA does not promptly enter into negotiations to amend the Agreement or this BAA when requested by CE pursuant to this Section or (ii) BA does not enter into an amendment to the Agreement or this BAA providing assurances regarding the safeguarding of PHI that CE, in its reasonable discretion, deems sufficient to satisfy the standards and requirements of applicable laws, within thirty (30) days following receipt of a written request for such amendment from CE.

### X. No Third-Party Beneficiaries.

Nothing express or implied in the Agreement or this BAA is intended to confer, nor shall anything herein confer upon any person other than CE, BA and their respective successors or assigns, any rights, remedies, obligations or liabilities whatsoever.

#### XI. Notices.

All notices hereunder shall be in writing, delivered personally, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, or by overnight courier, and shall be deemed to have been duly given when delivered personally or when deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, or deposited with the overnight courier addressed as follows:

If to CE: Tri-City Mental Health Authority

1717 N. Indian Hill Blvd., Suite B

Claremont, CA 91711 Attn: Privacy Officer

If to BA:

With a copy to: Hooper, Lundy & Bookman, P.C.

1875 Century Park East, Suite 1600

Los Angeles, CA 90067 Attn: Linda Kollar, Esq.

Fax: 310-551-8181

or to such other persons or places as either party may from time to time designate by written notice to the other.

### XII. Interpretation.

The provisions of this BAA shall prevail over any provisions in the Agreement that may conflict or appear inconsistent with any provision in this BAA. This BAA and the Agreement shall be interpreted as broadly as necessary to implement and comply with HIPAA, the HITECH Act, the Privacy Rule and the Security Rule. Any ambiguity in this BAA shall be resolved in favor of a meaning that complies and is consistent with HIPAA, the HITECH Act, the Privacy Rule and the Security Rule. Except as specifically required to implement the purposes of this BAA, or to the extent inconsistent with this BAA, all other terms of the Agreement shall remain in force and effect.

### **XIII.** Entire Agreement of the Parties.

This BAA supersedes any and all prior and contemporaneous business associate agreements or addenda between the parties and constitutes the final and entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof. Each party to this BAA acknowledges that no representations, inducements, promises, or agreements, oral or otherwise, with respect to the subject matter hereof, have been made by either party, or by anyone acting on behalf of either party, which are not embodied herein. No other agreement, statement or promise, with respect to the subject matter hereof, not contained in this BAA shall be valid or binding.

### XIV. Regulatory References.

A reference in this BAA to a section of regulations means the section as in effect or as amended, and for which compliance is required.

### XV. Counterparts.

This BAA may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the parties hereto have duly executed this BAA as of the BAA Effective Date.

#### **AGREED AND ACCEPTED:**

Tri-City Mental Health Authority	
Name of Covered Entity	Name of Business Associate
Authorized Signature	Authorized Signature
Antonette Navarro	
Print Name	Print Name
Executive Director	
Print Title	Print Title
Date	